






A global perspective of education in weed science

Taseer Ahmad¹ , Khawar Jabran² , Zahid Ata Cheema³ , Ali Ahsan Bajwa⁴ 
and Muhammad Farooq⁵ 

Review

Cite this article: Ahmad T, Jabran K, Cheema ZA, Bajwa AA, Farooq M (2023) A global perspective of education in weed science. *Weed Sci.* **71**: 536–548. doi: [10.1017/wsc.2023.49](https://doi.org/10.1017/wsc.2023.49)

Received: 4 July 2023
Revised: 19 August 2023
Accepted: 22 August 2023
First published online: 4 September 2023

Associate Editor:
William Vencill, University of Georgia

Keywords:
Agriculture; agricultural education; agronomy; curriculum; plant protection

Corresponding author:
Muhammad Farooq;
Email: farooqcp@squ.edu.om

¹PhD Student, Department of Plant Production and Technologies, Nigde Omer Halisdemir University, Nigde, Turkey; ²Associate Professor, Department of Plant Production and Technologies, Nigde Omer Halisdemir University, Nigde, Turkey; ³Professor (Retired), Department of Agronomy, University of Agriculture, Faisalabad, Pakistan; ⁴Senior Lecturer, Department of Animal, Plant and Soil Sciences, Centre for AgriBiosciences (AgriBio), La Trobe University, Melbourne (Bundoora), VIC, Australia and ⁵Associate Professor, Department of Plant Sciences, College of Agricultural and Marine Sciences, Sultan Qaboos University, Al-Khoud, Oman

Abstract

In modern agriculture, weed problems are predicted to worsen and become more complicated as a result of increasing invasiveness, herbicide resistance, and emphasis on high-input methods. Weeds cause huge economic yield losses that range from US\$100 million to US\$26 billion globally. The knowledge of weed science has offered success in the past through effective, reasonably priced, and secure technologies; specifically, synthetic herbicides to effectively control weeds in agroecosystems. Weed science is accepted and adopted by many universities with teaching, research, and/or extension programs in agriculture. Globally, approximately 7% of all the universities offering agricultural education have dedicated weed science departments focusing on weed biology, ecology, and management. Some universities also offer weed science degree programs or at least certain courses in their degrees related to associated disciplines, such as plant protection, agronomy, and ecology. Although substantial advances have been made in weed science, such as a separate weed science discipline, specialized journals, and specific weed science societies and conferences worldwide, many constraints (e.g., lack of trained weed scientists) and barriers to adoption of new weed science technologies remain. Slow modernization in weed science research and low funding has slowed the progress of this discipline. New curricula in the weed science discipline should focus on the role of biochemistry, evolutionary biology, molecular biology, and genetics in weed science research.

Introduction

Weeds are plants that are adapted to growing in agricultural lands while not being specially cultivated (Tretyakova et al. 2020). According to the Weed Science Society of America, a weed is “a plant that causes economic losses or ecological damage, creates health problems for humans or animals, or is undesirable where it is growing” (WSSA 2023a). Weeds, due to their higher adaptability and resilience, pose a persistent threat to agricultural production.

Weed science knowledge can be divided into three main categories: applied, fundamental, and socioeconomic (Jordan et al. 2016). Applied knowledge includes agronomy and weed science, which deals with the development and improvement of control or management methods using cultural, mechanical, chemical, and biological control, and integrated weed management (IWM) techniques. Fundamental aspects of weed science include key aspects of plant biology and ecology, such as genetics, dispersal mechanisms, and population and seedbank dynamics. The research into these fundamental aspects provides a better understanding of weeds’ life cycles to develop/optimize effective management programs. Socioeconomic knowledge includes topics within sociology and economics that deal with weeds’ impacts and consequences of effective or ineffective management regimes in society (Jordan et al. 2016).

Weed science is a relatively new discipline in plant science that has evolved significantly over the past few decades. The technological revolution in agriculture that is exemplified by the widespread development and quick adoption of synthetic herbicides has greatly contributed to the establishment of weed science as a separate discipline. This discipline focuses on different approaches to weed control through the diversity of weed research, developments in weed science technologies, and obstacles to future technological advancements.

The effects of chemical weed control on on-farm management techniques, their impact on the goals, and programs for agricultural education and research are also covered under the weed science discipline. Weed science has offered success in the past by contributing to effective, reasonably priced, and secure technologies to manage weeds in a number of agronomic and environmental settings (crop types, weed densities, and weed types).

© The Author(s), 2023. Published by Cambridge University Press on behalf of the Weed Science Society of America. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike licence (<http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/>), which permits non-commercial re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the same Creative Commons licence is used to distribute the re-used or adapted article and the original article is properly cited. The written permission of Cambridge University Press must be obtained prior to any commercial use.



There are many universities worldwide that were specifically established to pursue education and research in agriculture and applied sciences, a prime example being the United States (U.S.) land-grant universities. Similarly, several big universities conducting teaching and research in multiple disciplines have dedicated organizational units (faculties, colleges, schools, institutes, centers, etc.) delivering education, research, and outreach in agricultural sciences. From a weed science point of view, several universities have focused on weed science departments, while others subsume weed science within the crop protection or agronomy departments. Also, different research institutes offer several services, from working on projects under ecology, biology, and management to providing extension services for controlling weeds and decreasing economic losses. This article presents precise knowledge about the aggregate number of universities, agricultural universities, and universities involved in weed science education worldwide. Moreover, a brief history of weed science and its scope, weaknesses, and prospects are also discussed in this review. In addition, updated information about books, conferences, and journals related to the weed science discipline is provided.

The synthesis of this information will provide an updated account of the progress and scope of weed science and the challenges it faces as a unique but very important subdiscipline of agriculture. This will help educators, researchers, practitioners, and prospective students to determine the value and potential of weed science in crop protection. We also believe the information presented in this review will encourage the next generation to engage in this rapidly evolving yet rewarding discipline of agricultural sciences.

History of Weed Science

Historical books and articles about weed science show that weeds have been known to exist for thousands of years, since the start of settled food production. During that time, humans also discovered that the output of their preferred crop, typically coarse-grain cereals, was highest when it was cultivated in the absence of competitive plants that grew in the same habitat. Such species would have been manually eliminated by our forebears to mitigate the yield reductions caused by weed competition. This was an early attempt to suppress weed growth in inhabited areas transitioning to an agricultural-based lifestyle.

Archeological artifacts and ancient writings also certify the decline in yield due to weeds and the use of several tactics for managing them (Radosevich et al. 1997). By following the historical trajectory of weed science in Canada and the United States, Timmons (2005) determined that before 1200 CE or even 1500 CE, only a small number of agricultural leaders and farming communities identified weeds as a major problem and developed an interest in weed management. However, the development of weed science as a separate field of study does not correspond with the presence of weeds in cropped and non-cropped areas. The history of weed research is likely less than 100 years old, paralleling the history of industrialized agriculture (Radosevich et al. 1997). Some plant protectionists and weed scientists would argue that the invention of phytotoxic chemicals and herbicides for weed control marked the beginning of the scientific study of weeds. Early in the 20th century, sulfuric acid and inorganic copper salts were the first substances utilized to suppress weeds (Timmons 2005). The production of 2,4-D herbicide by Pokorny (1941) and the discovery of its herbicidal properties as a plant growth regulator by Hamner and Tukey in 1944 were the first accounts of a synthetic

organic chemical used to manage weeds (Stephenson et al. 2001). These events started planned weed management opportunities and, some would argue, the inception of weed science as a specific discipline.

Weed science as a discipline has succeeded in connecting university researchers, industrial researchers, university extension workers, and farmers to effectively introduce chemical weed control and other weed management practices. This integration can be considered as a model for pushing new technology into mainstream society. Wilfred W. Robbins was the professor who developed the first weed science course and co-wrote the first textbook on weed management, *Weed Control*, in 1942 (Zimdahl 2010). This book served as a source of the widespread introduction of weed science as a specific course and later as a separate discipline in the United States and worldwide (Zimdahl 2010). Alden Springer Crafts from the United States was the first person to claim the title of “weed scientist.” Robbins provided the necessary momentum to create the scientific study of weeds, but Crafts provided credibility to weed science through research work and prolific writing (Zimdahl 2010). George Knowles was the first person who worked full-time as a weed scientist in Canada (Timmons 2005).

Today, weed science is a well-established discipline, but it is still relatively smaller compared with allied crop protection disciplines such as entomology and plant pathology. In its relatively short history, this dynamic discipline has seen dramatic booms and busts from widespread adoption and prolific success of chemical herbicides to the rapid evolution of large-scale herbicide-resistance evolution across the globe challenging conventional, simplistic weed control programs. We are at the crossroads of ever-increasing herbicide-resistance issues, changing land use and management systems, and impressive technological advancements and digital disruption. On the other hand, significant progress has been made, and there is a further push to explore weed management implications of agroecology and integrated pest management (IPM) principles (Riemens et al. 2022). These factors are shaping weed science as a highly interactive, holistic, and technologically advanced field of agricultural sciences.

Weed Science Education Worldwide

Globally, several educational institutes work in numerous disciplines. Higher (university-level) education particularly focuses on specialized, discipline-wise educational training and research. The United States alone has the highest number of universities accounting for 3,982 in the public and private education sectors (Table 1). Russia has 3,000 universities, 47 in the agriculture category. Underdeveloped countries in Asia and Africa still have less focus on agricultural studies. Overall, many universities were specifically established to pursue research and education in the field of agriculture, while many others have agriculture faculties offering different courses and degree programs related to agriculture.

From the weed science point of view, several universities have special weed science departments (Table 1), while other universities provide education on weed science aspects within crop protection, agronomy, and ecology departments. Also, different research institutes offer several services from working on projects under ecology, biology, and management to providing extension services for controlling weeds and decreasing their economic losses. Moreover, a lot of work has been compiled by several authors in the form of specific books that focus on weed

Table 1. Total number of universities, agricultural universities, and universities involved in weed science education worldwide.^a

Country	Number of universities	Universities with agriculture faculties	Universities with weed science departments	Source
Afghanistan	179	15	0	Ministry of Higher Education, Afghanistan 2019
Algeria	64	3	0	Algeria Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research 2023
Angola	18	1	0	Ministry of Higher Education, Science, Technology and Innovation of Angola 2023
Argentina	85	11	2	Federation Universitaria Federation 2023
Australia	189	13	0	Australian Government Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency 2023
Austria	35	4	0	Federal Ministry of Education, Science and Research, Austria 2023
Azerbaijan	52	9	0	Suleymanov 2020
Bangladesh	161	23	0	University Grants Commission of Bangladesh 2023
Belarus	50	2	0	Belarusian System of Higher Education 2023
Belgium	25	3	1	University Directory Worldwide 2023a
Benin	17	1	0	All University Info 2023a
Bolivia	67	3	0	Ministry of Education of Bolivia 2023
Brazil	127	25	5	Ministério da Educação 2023
Bulgaria	45	7	0	European Education Directory 2023
Burkina Faso	17	1	0	UniRank 2023
Burundi	21	2	0	UniRank 2023
Cambodia	105	12	2	Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport, Cambodia 2023
Cameroon	159	9	1	Ministry of Higher Education Cameroon 2023
Canada	98	12	1	Canadian Visa Organization 2023
Chad	9	1	0	UniRank 2023
Chile	61	9	1	MINEDUC, 2023
China	3,012	289	6	Ministry of Education, The People's Republic of China 2023
Colombia	115	9	1	Colombia Education Info 2023
Côte d'Ivoire	10	2	0	All University Info 2023b
Czech Republic	64	9	0	Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, Czech Republic 2020
Democratic Republic of the Congo	43	3	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023j
Denmark	17	7	0	Ministry of Education and Research, Denmark 2023
Ecuador	70	2	0	Ministry of Education, Ecuador 2023
Egypt	63	9	1	Enterprise 2021
Ethiopia	60	2	0	Ministry of Education, Ethiopia 2023
Finland	46	3	0	Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland 2023
France	270	50	0	Ministry of Education, France 2023
Germany	400	43	3	University Directory Worldwide 2023b
Ghana	92	5	1	All University Info 2023c
Greece	20	4	0	Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs, Greece 2023
Guinea	3	0	0	All University Info 2023d
Hungary	65	3	0	Ministry of Natural Resources, Hungary 2023
India	1027	71	4	University Grants Commission, India 2023
Indonesia	125	4	0	Welch and Aziz 2022
Iran	428	23	2	Ministry of Science, Research and Technology, Iran 2023
Iraq	80	15	1	MOHESR 2023
Israel	66	7	0	Ministry of Aliyah and Integration, Israel 2023
Italy	116	21	2	University Directory Worldwide 2023c
Japan	795	56	4	Japan Education Info 2023
Jordan	29	6	1	MOHE 2023
Kazakhstan	149	15	2	All University Info 2023d
Kenya	73	7	1	Commission for University Education 2023
Kyrgyzstan	56	11	1	European Commission 2023a
Laos	67	3	0	Open Development Mekong 2023
Lebanon	32	5	1	All University Info 2023f
Liberia	38	31	2	Boateng 2020
Libya	83	5	0	Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research 2023
Madagascar	12	1	0	Ministry of Education, Madagascar 2023
Malawi	13	2	0	Ministry of Education, Republic of Malawi 2023
Malaysia	67	13	1	Unipage 2023
Mali	10	2	0	UniRank 2023
Mexico	3,587	27	3	Statista 2023a
Morocco	24	2	0	Morocco Academia 2023
Mozambique	7	2	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023d
Myanmar	163	8	1	Myanmar Education Info 2023
Nepal	11	2	0	University Grants Commission, Nepal 2023
Netherlands	73	8	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023h
New Zealand	84	8	1	Ministry of Education, New Zealand 2023
Niger	3	1	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023e
Nigeria	170	11	1	Nigeria Federal Ministry of Education 2023

(Continued)

Table 1. (Continued)

Country	Number of universities	Universities with agriculture faculties	Universities with weed science departments	Source
North Korea	190	30	4	Ministry of Education, North Korea 2023
Norway	48	3	0	NOKUT 2023
Oman	36	7	0	Ministry of Higher Education, Research Innovation, Oman 2023
Pakistan	233	36	1	Higher Education Commission Pakistan (2023)
Papua New Guinea	8	1	0	National Strategic Plan Taskforce, Independent State of Papua New Guinea 2023
Peru	143	17	2	Ministerio de Educación 2023
Philippines	1,975	11	2	OPRKM-KMD 2023
Poland	457	23	3	Ministry of Science and Higher Education, Poland 2023
Portugal	46	2	0	Edubilla 2023
Romania	92	3	0	Ministerul Educației 2023
Russia	683	47	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023i
Rwanda	31	2	0	Ministry of Education, Rwanda 2023
Saudi Arabia	67	5	0	Ministry of Education, Saudi Arabia 2023
Senegal	17	4	0	All University Info 2023e
Serbia	18	2	0	Educational Research Association of Serbia 2023
Sierra Leone	4	1	0	Ministry of Technical and Higher Education, Republic of Sierra Leone 2023
Singapore	34	3	0	EY-Parthenon 2023
Slovakia	33	6	0	Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic 2023
Somalia	24	3	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023f
South Africa	26	2	1	Higher Education and Training, Republic of South Africa 2023
South Korea	179	7	0	Statista 2023b
South Sudan	12	1	0	UniRank 2023
Spain	82	7	0	Spain Education Information 2023
Sri Lanka	39	6	0	University Grants Commission, Sri Lanka 2023
State of Palestine	49	2	0	Palestinian Ministry of Education & Higher Education 2023
Sudan	38	2	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023g
Sweden	39	5	1	Government of Sweden 2023
Switzerland	44	4	0	EAER 2023
Syria	27	4	0	Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Syria 2023
Tajikistan	30	2	0	European Commission 2023b
Tanzania	47	2	0	Ministry of Education Science and Technology, Tanzania 2023
Thailand	150	11	2	Office of the Higher Education Commission, Bureau of International Cooperation Strategy, Ministry of Education, Thailand 2008
Togo	4	1	0	UniRank 2023
Tunisia	23	2	0	Tunisia Education 2023
Türkiye	209	12	0	Council of Higher Education Turkey 2023
Turkmenistan	23	3	1	Ministry of Education of Turkmenistan 2023
Uganda	59	19	1	Ministry of Education and Sports Uganda 2023
Ukraine	664	19	3	Education fair.nl 2023
United Arab Emirates	299	11	0	Ministry of Education, United Arab Emirates 2023
United Kingdom	164	23	2	Statista 2023c
United States	3,982	96	40	WSSA 2023c
Uzbekistan	56	6	0	Ministry of Higher Education, Science and Innovations of the Republic of Uzbekistan 2023
Venezuela	47	6	0	All University Info 2023f
Vietnam	237	21	1	Statista 2023d
Yemen	30	4	0	Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Yemen 2023
Zambia	87	2	1	Higher Education Authority Zambia 2023
Zimbabwe	14	0	0	University Directory Worldwide 2023k

^aThe list of universities comes only from the countries that have a population of more than 5 million. Countries are ordered alphabetically.

ecology, biology, and management options (Table 2). Also, there are specialized journals and specific weed science societies (Table 3) that are working for the betterment of the weed science discipline.

Globally, approximately 7% of all universities that offer agricultural education have dedicated weed science departments that work on weed biology, ecology, and management (Table 1). Some universities also offer weed science degree programs or at least certain courses in degrees related to associated disciplines, such as plant protection, agronomy, and ecology. Substantial

advances, such as separate weed science disciplines and known specialized journals and conferences in weed science, have been made worldwide. Also, there are international, regional, and national weed science societies that work to promote and encourage the development of weed-related knowledge and the impact of weeds on society. For example, the WSSA states that its basic purpose is that it “promotes research, education, and extension outreach activities related to weeds; provides science-based information to the public and policy makers; fosters awareness of weeds and their impacts on managed and natural

Table 2. List of some important books related to weed science

Title	Author(s)/editor(s)	Year of publication ^a	Publisher
<i>Applied Weed and Herbicide Science</i>	Kassio Ferreira Mendes, Antonio Alberto da Silva (editors)	2022	Springer
<i>Biology and Management of Problematic Crop Weed Species</i>	Bhagirath S. Chauhan (editor)	2021	Academic Press
<i>Biology, Physiology and Molecular Biology of Weeds</i>	Mithila Jugulam (editor)	2021	CRC Press
<i>Fundamentals of Weed Science</i> (5 editions)	Robert L. Zimdahl (author)	Latest edition (2018) First edition (1993)	Academic Press
<i>Weed Control: Sustainability, Hazards and Risks in Cropping Systems Worldwide</i>	Nicholas E. Korres, Nilda R. Burgos, Stephen O. Duke (editors)	2018	CRC Press
<i>Non-chemical Weed Control</i>	Khawar Jabran, Bhagirath Chauhan (editors)	2018	Academic Press
<i>Identification and Control of Common Weeds</i> (Volumes 1–3)	Zhenghao Xu, Le Chang (authors)	2017	Springer
<i>Integrated Weed Management for Sustainable Agriculture</i>	Robert L. Zimdahl (editor)	2017	Burleigh Dodds Science Publishing
<i>Manipulation of Allelopathic Crops for Weed Control</i>	Khawar Jabran (author)	2017	Springer Cham
<i>Recent Advances in Weed Management</i>	Bhagirath S. Chauhan, Gulshan Mahajan (editors)	2014	Springer
<i>Principles of Weed Control</i>	Steven A Fennimore, Carl Bell (editors)	2014	California Weed Science Society
<i>Herbicide Resistance in Weeds and Crops</i>	J. C. Caseley, G. W. Cussans, R. K. Atkin (authors)	2013	Butterworth-Heinemann
<i>Weed Biology and Climate Change</i>	Lewis H. Ziska, Jeffrey Dukes (authors)	2011	Wiley-Blackwell
<i>A History of Weed Science in the United States</i>	Robert L. Zimdahl (author)	2010	Elsevier
<i>Ecology of Weeds and Invasive Plants</i> (3 editions)	Steven R. Radosevich, Jodie S. Holt, Claudio M. Ghersa (authors)	Latest edition 2007	Wiley Interscience
<i>Weed Science: Principles and Practices</i> (4 editions)	Thomas J. Monaco, Stephen C. Weller, Floyd M. Ashton (authors)	Latest edition 2002	Wiley-Blackwell
<i>Molecular Biology of Weed Control</i>	Jonathan Gressel (author)	2002	CRC Press
<i>Weed Control</i> , (3 editions)	Wilfred W. Robbins, Alden S. Crafts, and Richard N. Raynor (authors)	Latest edition 1962 First edition 1942	McGraw-Hill

^aThe books are listed in descending order (newest to the oldest).

ecosystems; and promotes cooperation among weed science organizations across the nation and around the world” (WSSA 2023b). Several authors have written comprehensive literature in the form of books (Table 2) and review articles (Buddenhagen et al. 2022; Flessner et al. 2021; MacLaren et al. 2020; Westwood et al. 2018) that specifically cover the discipline of weed science.

Scope of Weed Science

Weed science is a broad field that addresses significant biotic stresses that can cause huge economic losses to the agricultural sector and economy of any country, leading to exacerbating the problem of food insecurity. In a comprehensive analysis, Oerke (2006) reported that weeds potentially cause up to 34% loss to crop yields globally. These losses are much greater than those caused by insect pests and diseases that reduce crop yields by 18% and 16%, respectively (Oerke 2006). Due to their persistent nature, weeds are typically given less attention than they deserve. Farmers pay more attention to unexpected, unanticipated epidemics of insect pests or diseases, because they are less accustomed to their presence (Moss 2019). Weeds, on the other hand, are often considered to be a “business as usual” kind of problem, overlooking the magnitude of damages they pose to crop productivity and quality. A parallel condition exists in the public healthcare sector: policy makers devote the most resources to handling acute diseases compared with chronic diseases, which usually receive little attention (Fernandez-Quintanilla et al. 2008).

One of the greatest strengths of weed science is that it offers an arguable and problem-solving approach (Fernandez-Quintanilla et al. 2008). In this context, this discipline can be considered a model that combines several disciplines and utilizes a systematic

approach to resolve practical issues. In addition, the weed science discipline is an exceptional example of how to cover the gap between scientific knowledge and its practical management, offering nonfragmented scientific knowledge and practical advice and opportunities to the end-users.

Weed science has had great success in effectively, affordably, and safely managing the weeds in a wide range of crops. Although a huge portion of this achievement has been due to the availability of low-cost, effective synthetic herbicides, sole reliance on chemical control has led to the widespread herbicide-resistance evolution in addition to increasing environmental health concerns (Gaines et al. 2020). A variety of cultural, biological, physical, and IPM-oriented weed management techniques have also been developed and introduced at a commercial scale, as a result of coevolution with the societal request for more environment-friendly crop management systems. IPM is an interdisciplinary approach that involves pest management principles based on relevant knowledge and practices in agronomy, entomology, plant pathology, nematology, weed science, ecology, horticulture, economics, and systems science (Thill et al. 1991). Despite the heavy reliance on chemicals for weed management in broadacre crop production over the past few decades, weed research has been focusing on alternative approaches and their integration for effective IWM (Jabran and Chauhan 2018). In fact, Oerke (2006) indicated that the higher efficacy of weed management compared with insect pests or disease management was because of the usage of several methods for controlling weeds.

Weeds are the masters of adaptation, hence it is critical to continuously track their evolution in order to better manage them. The focus on studying biology and ecology continues to grow, as it helps better understand shifting weed dynamics and behavior in

Table 3. List of important weed science societies, their specific activities (including conferences/events/meetings, specific journals, educational resources), and their official website links.

Societies	Activities			Websites
	Conferences/meetings	Journals	Educational resources	
Weed Science Society of America (founded in 1956)	Annual meeting (63rd took place in 2023)	<i>Weed Science</i> , <i>Weed Technology</i> , <i>Invasive Plant Science and Management</i>	Newsletters, WSSA Book store, Weed Science Webinar Series	https://wssa.net/
European Weed Research Society (founded in 1975)	EWRS Symposium (19th took place in 2022)	<i>Weed Research</i>	EWRS Blog, training and workshops on weed science	https://www.ewrs.org/
International Weed Science Society (founded in 1975)	International Weed Science Congress (8th took place in 2022)	—	<i>Weeds of the South</i> (book)	https://www.iwss.info/
Asian Pacific Weed Science Society (founded in 1967)	Asian Pacific Weed Science Society Conference (26th took place in 2017)	<i>Weeds—Journal of the Asian-Pacific Weed Science Society</i>	APWSS newsletters and conference proceedings	https://www.apwss.org/
Brazilian Weed Science Society (founded in 1963)	Brazilian Weed Science Congress (32nd took place in 2022)	<i>Weed Control Journal</i> , <i>Advances in Weed Science</i>	Newsletters, blogs	https://www.sbcpcd.org/en/
Canadian Weed Science Society (founded in 2002)	Annual meeting (23rd meeting took place in 2022)	<i>Canadian Journal of Plant Science</i>	Newsletters, webinars, mobile apps	https://weedscience.ca/
Indian Society of Weed Science (founded in 1968)	Weed Conference/Symposium (29th took place in 2022)	<i>Indian Journal of Weed Science</i>	<i>Weed Science and Management</i> (book)	https://isws.org.in/
Weed Science Society of Japan (founded in 1975)	Annual meeting (61st took place in 2022)	<i>Weed Biology and Management</i> , <i>Journal of Weed Science and Technology</i>	Symposium on Plant Protection	http://wssj.jp/
Korean Society of Weed Science (founded in 1981)	2023 spring conference (latest conference took place in 2022)	<i>Weed and Turfgrass Science</i>	Special lectures, weed videos	http://www.ksws.kr/
Weed Science Society of China (founded in 1981)	National Weed Science Conference (15th took place in 2021)	—	Newsletters, magazines	http://www.wssc.org.cn/
Weed Science Society of Pakistan (founded in 1987)	National Weed Science Conference (17th took place in 2022)	<i>Pakistan Journal of Weed Science Research</i>	Workshop on “Research Priorities in Phyto-Ecology and Weed Management”	https://www.wssp.org.pk/
Turkish Weed Science Society (founded in 1995)	Turkey Herbology Congress (10th took place in 2018)	<i>Turkish Journal of Weed Science</i>	<i>Yabancı Otlarla Mücadele</i> (book)	https://www.turkiyeherboloji.org.tr/
Iranian Society of Weed Science (founded in 2001)	Iranian Weed Science Conference (9th took place in 2021)	<i>Iranian Journal of Weed Science</i>	—	https://isws.areeo.ac.ir/en-US/isws.areeo.ac/33991/page/Home
Weed Science Society of Serbia (founded in 1973)	Congress on Weeds (11th took place in 2021)	<i>Acta Herbológica</i>	<i>Ambrosia</i> (book), “Weed Resistance to Herbicides” (book chapter)	http://herboloskodrustvo.rs/en/
California Weed Science Society (founded in 1948)	Annual Conference of the California Weed Science Society (75th took place in 2023)	<i>California Weed Science Society Journal</i>	<i>Principles of Weed Control: Weeds of California</i> , 4th ed. (book)	https://www.cwss.org/
Crop and Weeds Science Society West Bengal (founded in 2004)	CWSC International Conference/Symposium (5th took place in 2019)	<i>Journal of Crop and Weed</i>	Seminar symposium, training program, awareness program	https://cwssbckv.org/
The Weed Society of Queensland (founded in 1975)	Pest, Animal and Weed Symposium Proceedings (latest took place in 2019)	—	<i>Weeds of Southern Queensland</i> , 4th ed. <i>Weeds of Central and North Queensland</i> , 1st ed.	https://www.wsq.org.au/
North Central Weed Science Society (founded in 1997)	Annual meeting (26th took place in 2022)	—	<i>Interactive Encyclopedia of North American Weeds</i> (online book)	http://ncwss.org/
Northeastern Weed Science Society (founded in 1947)	Annual meeting (latest was held in 2023)	—	Student writing contests, weed identification and unknown herbicide identification contests	https://www.newss.org/

response to climatic and management factors, ultimately helping in the development of new, improved weed management options (Westwood et al. 2018). Therefore, understanding weed biology

and ecology is integral to sustainable weed management, as weed populations adapt and evolve in response to new selective pressures. Another important point to be made about weed

Table 4. Economic yield losses in selected crops/production systems caused by weed interference.

Crop name	Cost of weeds (per annum)	Country	References
Dry bean (<i>Phaseolus vulgaris</i> L.)	US\$622 million	United States	Soltani et al. 2018
Dry bean	US\$100 million	Canada	Soltani et al. 2018
Maize (<i>Zea mays</i> L.)	US\$26.7 billion	North America	Soltani et al. 2016
Overall crop production	US\$1.658 billion	New Zealand	Saunders et al. 2017
Annual winter crops	AU\$1.182 billion	Australia	Jones et al. 2005
Overall grain crops	AU\$3.318 billion	Australia	Llewellyn et al. 2016
Rainfed rice (<i>Oryza sativa</i> L.)	US\$200 million	Africa	Rodenburg et al. 2016
General crops	US\$32 billion	Europe	Kubiak et al. 2022
10 major agronomic crops in India	US\$11 billion	India	Gharde et al. 2018
7 major crops of Pakistan	PKR 207.41 billion	Pakistan	Shrestha et al. 2021
11 major crops of Bangladesh	BDT 703 million	Bangladesh	Shrestha et al. 2021

management is that all these achievements have been accomplished with relatively few financial resources (Matloob et al. 2020).

Moving forward, weed science has immense scope as a discipline. In the wake of changing climate and mounting food security and food safety concerns around the globe, effectively managing weeds is as important or arguably more important than most other biotic and abiotic production constraints. With many modern digital technologies coming online, weed science could be at the forefront of smart mechanized farming. This presents numerous opportunities for the next generation of weed scientists, farmers, and practitioners, as well as entrepreneurs.

Costs of Weeds

Costs of weeds consist of weed management expenses as well as productivity losses due to weeds (Saunders et al. 2017). Both these factors have a significant impact on the sustainability of productive land usage. Knowledge of the costs of weeds is important for (1) prioritization of key target weed species for research and management; (2) development of cost-effective weed control strategies in the light of benefit-cost analyses; and (3) logical allocation of funding for research, development, and extension (RD&E) in the weed science sector.

Economic yield losses in several crops due to specific weeds in a specific region or country are shown in Table 4. The estimate of the total cost of weeds to New Zealand's agricultural economy was US \$1.658 billion (Saunders et al. 2017). In Australia, the financial cost of the 15 most important weeds in 7 agronomic crops was estimated to be AU\$1.182 billion per year (Llewellyn et al. 2016). The key parts of this cost were management costs for herbicides, which accounted for AU\$571 million, the competitive effects of residual weeds were AU\$380 million, and tillage for weed control cost AU\$206 million, while weed contamination of grain was a minor cost (AU\$25 million) (Jones et al. 2005).

It is important to note that economic and social costs of weeds are often less studied and underestimated due to (1) no concerted effort in the quantification of such losses on large scales, (2) lack of reliable, consistent data, (3) prioritization of funding and resources for developing management tools instead of understanding the actual cost of weed infestations, and (4) limitations surrounding consistent, coherent methodologies and reporting.

Challenges in Weed Science

Weed science was shaped as a specific discipline in the 1950s and has been facing multifarious issues and challenges ever since (Chandrasena 2020). Although it is difficult to generalize challenges and problems facing this discipline across different

geographic regions, the themes discussed in this section are frequently encountered and are broadly considered to be the major challenges in the field of weed science.

Lack of Knowledge of Weed Biology and Ecology

A weak understanding of the biology and ecology of weeds hinders the creation of scientifically sound strategies and techniques for weed control. This is mainly because there were previously very few human and financial resources available for fundamental weed research. For example, a large number of weed science organizations have been shut down or reduced in size across Europe in the past few decades (Fernandez-Quintanilla et al. 2008). Until now, only a few European Union projects have specifically addressed weeds, while there are numerous programs targeting plant diseases and insect pests. On the other hand, major developed agricultural nations outside Europe, such as the United States, Canada, and Australia, have started to shift their focus to this area. For example, the Grains Research and Development Corporation (GRDC) in Australia and the U.S. Department of Agriculture–National Institute of Food and Agriculture (USDA-NIFA) have been funding some basic weed science research over the past decade or so. Having said that, RD&E funding for fundamental/foundational aspects of weed biology and ecology is disproportionately limited, hindering progress in this area.

Lack of Technical Knowledge among Farmers about Herbicides

Lack of technical knowledge among farmers about the use of herbicides is one of the major constraints in weed science, especially in developing countries across Asia-Pacific and Africa (Gharde and Singh 2021). Also, there is a dearth of studies about the knowledge and awareness of the safe use of herbicides in those countries. Lack of scientific understanding about herbicides, unawareness of more advanced weed management techniques, and ignorance of safety procedures for herbicide spraying are big obstacles in weed control. Similarly, the intoxication risk for workers with herbicides is high due to a lack of information about the formulation of chemical ingredients in some parts of the world (Machado-Neto 2015). Even in developed countries, issues like non-target damage due to herbicide spray drift are common occurrences. For example, massive dicamba drift/volatilization issues in soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.]–producing regions of the United States (Sterman and Featherston 2022) and 2,4-D drift to cotton (*Gossypium hirsutum* L.) crops in Australia (Elmore 2023) have created massive socioeconomic problems in recent years. In the 2022 to 2023 season alone, damage to cotton crops

caused by 2,4-D drift was estimated to be more than AU\$100 million in Australia (Bradfield and Felton-Taylor 2023). These environmental and socioeconomic issues surrounding chemical weed control are significant for weed science, requiring robust, on-time RD&E as well as policy development, given that herbicides are still the backbone of any weed management program, especially in broadacre agriculture.

Smaller Trained Workforce in Weed Science

Unlike other crop protection disciplines, such as plant pathology and entomology, far fewer departments in agricultural institutions are entirely focused on weed science (Chauhan et al. 2017). Furthermore, very few university educators/researchers are charged with managing weeds in pastures, ornamental, aquatic, and forest environments. Additionally, degree-awarding institutions from different regions of a nation, particularly in developing nations, have nearly uniform weed science curricula that do not consider regional variations in crops and weed species, cropping systems, input levels, management practices, socioeconomic backgrounds, and farmer skill levels for managing weeds. Agricultural education, research, and farming are seeing a significant decline in interest from youth, which translates into and multiplies the problems for a small discipline like weed science.

The Absence of Proper Funding

Research efforts for studying and controlling weeds, which are both resource and time intensive, appear less appealing to funding organizations. With the exception of a few short-term bioassay studies, research on weed biology in the context of climate change is progressing slowly, particularly in terms of long-term, system-based trials. Such comprehensive studies necessitate an interdisciplinary approach due to their complex and time-consuming nature and therefore require significant funding, resources, and collaboration. Improper delivery of information is also a major weakness, because the knowledge becomes useless if it is not properly delivered to users (Coble 1994). Not many countries have well-established, integrated extension and outreach programs facilitating problem-oriented research and real-time knowledge dissemination. There are very few successful examples of RD&E networks, organizations, or collaborations delivering pragmatic weed management outcomes across the globe. A coordinated network and public-private sector partnership for improved grains RD&E including weed management through GRDC in Australia is a good framework; however, funding is still highly competitive, and weed science gets a smaller portion. In the United States, established weed science programs at most land-grant universities and USDA-Agricultural Research Services (USDA-ARS) laboratories and increasing collaboration among researchers and industry are good models to follow for improved research outcomes and stewardship and expedited adoption of new weed management technologies/programs.

Overall, the absence of proper funding for state weed science programs is a significant barrier to building the type of research program needed in weed science. Burnside (1993) described weed science as a stepchild due to the decline in research efforts and neglect of this discipline. The cuts in the funding of weed science projects appear to be inconsistent with the need, especially in Europe and the United Kingdom. There were as few as 10 principal investigators involved in full-time publicly funded weed research programs in England a few years ago (Froud-Williams 2017).

Another problem is the lack of weed specialists and organizations directly advocating for weed science-related policy development and funding. Historically, weed science has been underrepresented in broader crop-, plant-, ecology-, and biosecurity-related professional societies, forums, and think tanks. Dedicated funding streams for weed science and better advocacy for this cause are necessary.

Challenging Job Market

Weed science has conventionally experienced the “new kid in town” syndrome (Fernandez-Quintanilla et al. 2008). It has mostly come late to several new concepts evolving in plant protection: ecology and agroecology, IPM, habitat management, herbicide-resistant crops, and biodiversity in agroecosystems. This is due to weed science being a relatively young discipline, its low specific weight, and the fact that several other niches were already filled when this discipline emerged. So, due to these niches, it becomes difficult to create a separate job market for weed scientists. Also, many pesticide companies hire nontechnical staff to sell their products related to weed management. This is another big reason for fewer job being available.

Research and education-based jobs have been historically limited in weed science. Such job opportunities in weed science are scattered, and there is huge geographic inequality. For example, weed science graduates in the United States can find relevant jobs easily in academia, industry, and government sectors, while those outside North America have a really difficult time. As a matter of fact, in just the last 3 years, more than 20 faculty positions specifically in weed science were advertised across the United States (<https://wssa.net/category/jobs>), while that number was probably less than 5 outside the United States. In addition, weed scientists often have to compete with experts in allied fields which is not the case with relatively bigger crop protection fields/disciplines like entomology and plant pathology.

Herbicide-Resistance Challenges

Heavy reliance on synthetic herbicides, constant use of herbicides with a single mode of action, and herbicide applications at inaccurate doses have caused widespread evolution of herbicide resistance in weed populations across the world (Heap 2023; Torra et al. 2021). Herbicide resistance has become the greatest concern of weed science in recent times, because it ultimately threatens profitable crop production and food security. It has increased the costs of crop production, especially in developed nations that largely depend on herbicides to grow highly productive herbicide-tolerant crops (Burke and Bell 2014). Weed species belonging to *Amaranthus*, *Lolium*, *Conyza*, and *Echinochloa* genera are the worst herbicide-resistant weeds, with proven capabilities of evolving resistance to a wide range of sites of action (Heap 2014). Also, recent studies of multiple and cross-resistance to several herbicides have increased concern, as there are fewer herbicide options for certain weed species (Peterson et al. 2018). Effective management of herbicide-resistant weeds requires cutting-edge research, coordinated education, and continuous outreach efforts. Herbicide-resistant weeds also require new management strategies that are not solely reliant on herbicides.

Challenges to the Adoption of Modern Technologies

Modern digital technologies offer great opportunities for agroeconomic operations, including weed management (Bajwa et al. 2015).

However, one of the major challenges in using modern technologies such as robotics for weed management is identifying different weed species accurately (Slaughter et al. 2008). Weeds can have different shapes, sizes, and colors, and detecting them can be challenging, especially in complex and dynamic environments like agricultural fields. Robotic systems need to be designed to work in a range of environments and conditions, including different crop types, soil types, and weather conditions. They must also be adaptable to different weed densities and distributions. Data management is another problem, as the amount of data generated by robotic systems can be overwhelming. The data must be stored, processed, and analyzed to provide meaningful information for decision making.

The development and implementation of robotic systems can be expensive. The high costs associated with the development of custom robotics platforms and sensors may be a barrier for some farmers and researchers. The use of robotics in agriculture may be subject to legal and regulatory barriers. For example, the use of drones for crop monitoring and pesticide application may be subject to strict regulations, including registration and certification requirements. This can be a complex task, and integrating robotics with legacy equipment can be particularly challenging.

Prospects for Weed Science

Although several leading universities offer education and training in weed science directly or through courses embedded in their crop science-related degrees, the overall number of educational providers within this important discipline is very small on a global scale, especially in underdeveloped countries. The study of basic and fundamental principles of weed science should be compulsory for agriculture students. Weed science students should seek knowledge of weed biology, ecology, and IWM, along with advanced technologies such as remote sensing, artificial intelligence, computing, and robotics. This will diversify students' skills within weed science while potentially broadening job opportunities for them in agricultural engineering and industry.

Climate change is one of the world's major challenges (and an opportunity as well), and it will become even more critical for agriculture and weed science in the near future given the increasing global population and food demand. Unfortunately, crop protection as well as weed invasions and weed management will become more difficult under future climatic conditions (Bajwa et al. 2020, 2021; Jabran et al. 2020). Weed scientists have a key role to play in both mitigation of and adaptation to adverse effects of climate change through more adaptive research using complex climate change scenarios. This might be implemented by reducing tillage practices and avoiding flaming and encouraging conservation tillage practices, site-specific weed management, reduced herbicide rates, and biological and cultural control (Somasundaram et al. 2020). In addressing climate change, the disciplines of weed science and invasion ecology can learn a lot from each other, and there are certain principles and practices that can be exchanged and mutually applied to achieve sustainable outcomes (Sun et al. 2021).

To be effective, weed management strategies must take into account weed ecology in connection to environmental, genetic, and biochemical factors, as well as and molecular biology information. The use of genetic techniques can help to identify and characterize genes that are involved in weed growth and development. This research can lead to the development of new herbicides that target specific genes in weeds, making them more susceptible to

management options while reducing their negative impacts. Also, by using techniques such as gene editing and RNA interference, researchers can modify the genetic makeup of weeds to make them more susceptible to herbicides or even to cause them to self-destruct. The economics of both weed-induced production losses and weed control techniques must be taken into consideration when creating an adequate weed science curriculum.

Weed science is an integrative scientific discipline that combines both applied and basic sciences to understand and effectively manage some of the most undesirable plants in agroecosystems. The work of weed scientists is challenging, and several advances have been achieved, including achieving scale as a specific discipline. Still, numerous issues have yet to be fully explored, including the role of molecular biologists, invasion ecologists, and plant physiologists in basic and applied research for vegetation management in agricultural and nonagricultural ecosystems.

In the future, weed science as a discipline needs to be described in more precise and positive ways to attract potential students. Additionally, multidisciplinary weed science needs to be developed or introduced so that students can learn more about the complexity of weeds in farming systems and then go on to find innovative solutions. Topics such as molecular analysis of suspected herbicide-resistant weeds, weed management by genetic tools like RNAi, and weed identification by DNA barcoding and sequencing need to be incorporated into coursework for weed science students. Also, there is a need for cooperation between government organizations and private industry for the creation of internship/placement programs for weed science graduate students.

Acknowledgments. This research received no specific grant from any funding agency or the commercial or not-for-profit sectors. The authors acknowledge the ongoing support from their respective institutes. No conflicts of interest have been declared.

References

- Algeria Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research (2023) Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research. <https://www.mesrs.dz/index.php/recherche-scientifique-ar>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- All University Info (2023a) Benin. <https://www.alluniversity.info/benin>. Accessed: January 14, 2023
- All University Info (2023b) Côte d'Ivoire. <https://www.alluniversity.info/ivory-coast/>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- All University Info (2023c) Ghana. <https://www.alluniversity.info/ghana/>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- All University Info (2023d) Kazakhstan. <https://www.alluniversity.info/kazakhstan/>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- All University Info (2023e) Senegal. <https://www.alluniversity.info/senegal>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- All University Info (2023f) Venezuela. <https://www.alluniversity.info/venezuela/>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- Australian Government Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (2023) National Register. <https://www.teqsa.gov.au/national-register>. Accessed: January 14, 2023
- Bajwa AA, Farooq M, Al-Sadi AM, Nawaz A, Jabran K, Siddique KHM (2020) Impact of climate change on biology and management of wheat pests. *Crop Prot* 137:105304
- Bajwa AA, Mahajan G, Chauhan BS (2015) Nonconventional weed management strategies for modern agriculture. *Weed Sci* 63:723–747
- Bajwa AA, Matzrafi M, Jugulam M (2021) Biology and management of weeds and invasive plant species under changing climatic and management regimes. *Front Agron* 3: 728144

- Belarusian System of Higher Education (2023) Overall Description. <https://www.bsuir.by/en/Belarusian-system-of-higher-education>. Accessed: January 14, 2023
- Bradfield E, Felton-Taylor A (2023) Spray drift damages up to \$100 million in cotton, prompting calls for more herbicide controls. *ABC News*. <https://www.abc.net.au/news/rural/2023-01-06/spray-drift-damages-100-million-dollars-of-cotton-darling-downs/101816638>. Accessed: August 15, 2023
- Boateng FK (2020) Higher Education Systems and Institutions, Liberia. In Teixeira PN, Shin J-C, eds. *Encyclopedia of International Higher Education Systems and Institutions*. Dordrecht: Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9553-1_457-1
- Buddenhagen CE, Bourdôt G, Cripps M, Bell N, Champion P, Dodd M, Eerens H, Ghanizadeh H, Griffiths A, Harrington K, Heenan P (2022) A horizon scan for temperate pastoral weed science—a New Zealand perspective. *NZ J Agric Res* 10:1–7
- Burke IC, Bell JL (2014) Plant health management: herbicides. Pages 425–440 in: Van Alfen NK, ed. *Encyclopedia of Agriculture and Food Systems*. New York: Academic Press
- Burnside OC (1993) Weed science—the step child. *Weed Technol* 7:515–518
- Canadian Visa Organization (2023) A List of Universities in Canada. <https://canadianvisa.org/canada-immigration/study-in-canada/university-list>. Accessed: September 23, 2023
- Chandrasena N (2020) Alien species, “pertinacious weeds” and the ideal weed—revisited. *Weeds* 2:1–15
- Chauhan BS, Matloob A, Mahajan G, Aslam F, Florentine SK, Jha P (2017) Emerging challenges and opportunities for education and research in weed science. *Front Plant Sci* 8:1537
- Coble HD (1994) Future directions and needs for weed science research. *Weed Technol* 8:410–412
- Colombia Education Info (2023) List of Universities in Colombia. <https://www.colombiaeducation.info/higher-education/list-of-colombian-universities.html>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- Commission for University Education (2023) Kenya https://www.cue.or.ke/images/Programmes/Accredited_Institutions_August2023.pdf. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- Council of Higher Education Turkey (2023) Our Universities. <https://www.yok.gov.tr/universiteler/universitelerimiz>. Accessed: March 13, 2023
- Edubilla (2023) Ministry of Education and Science—Government of Portugal. <http://www.edubilla.com/education-ministry/ministry-of-education-and-science-government-of-portugal>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Education fair.nl (2023) Market report Ukraine. <https://www.educationfair.nl/market-reports/europe/ukraine/>. Accessed: September 23, 2023.
- Educational Research Association of Serbia (2023) Home page. <http://eng.dios.edu.rs/ministry-of-education-science-and-technological-development>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Elmore B (2023) The herbicide dicamba creates problems for some farmers. *Ohio State News*. <https://news.osu.edu/the-herbicide-dicamba-creates-problems-for-some-farmers>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Enterprise (2021) Higher Education in Egypt: 2014 vs. 2021. <https://enterprise.press/blackboards/higher-education-egypt-2014-vs-2021>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- European Commission (2023a) Higher Education in Kyrgyzstan. <https://nawa.gov.pl/images/Kyrgyzstan.pdf>. Accessed: August 14, 2023.
- European Commission (2023b) Higher Education in Tajikistan. <https://nawa.gov.pl/images/Tajikistan.pdf>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- European Education Directory (2023) Bulgaria Higher Education System. <https://www.euroeducation.net/prof/bulgaco.htm>. Accessed: January 14, 2023
- EY-Parthenon (2023) Education in South East Asia, Singapore. https://cdn.ey.com/echannel/parthenon/pdf/perspectives/EY-Parthenon_education-in-SE-Asia_Paper_final_web_032018.pdf. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- [EAER] Federal Department of Economic Affairs, Education and Research (2023) Home page. <https://www.admin.ch/gov/en/start/departments/departments-of-economic-affairs-education-research-eaer.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Federal Ministry of Education, Science and Research, Austria (2023) Home page. <https://www.bmbwf.gv.at/Themen/HS-Uni/Hochschulsystem.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Federation Universitaria Federation (2023) Home page. <http://www.lafua.org>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Fernandez-Quintanilla C, Quadranti M, Kudsk P, Barberi P (2008) Which future for weed science? *Weed Res* 48:297–301
- Flessner ML, Burke IC, Dille JA, Everman WJ, VanGessel MJ, Tidemann B, Manuchehri MR, Soltani N, Sikkema PH (2021) Potential wheat yield loss due to weeds in the United States and Canada. *Weed Technol* 35:916–923
- Froud-Williams RJ (2017) Weed science research: past, present and future perspectives. Pages 1–32 in Hatcher PE, Froud-Williams RJ, eds. *Weed Research: Expanding Horizons*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley
- Gaines TA, Duke SO, Morran S, Rigon CA, Tranel PJ, Küpper A, Dayan FE (2020) Mechanisms of evolved herbicide resistance. *J Biol Chem* 295: 10307–10330
- Gharde Y, Singh PK (2021) Farmers’ knowledge level and constraints faced in the adoption of weed management technologies. *Indian J Weed Sci* 53:73–77
- Gharde Y, Singh PK, Dubey RP, Gupta PK (2018) Assessment of yield and economic losses in agriculture due to weeds in India. *Crop Prot* 107:12–18
- Government of Sweden (2023) Ministry of Education and Research. <https://www.government.se/government-of-sweden/ministry-of-education-and-research/>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- Hamner CL, Tukey HB (1944) The herbicidal action of 2,4 dichlorophenoxyacetic acid and 2,4,5 trichlorophenoxyacetic acid on bindweed. *Science* 100: 154–155
- Heap I (2014) Global perspective of herbicide-resistant weeds. *Pest Manag Sci* 70:1306–1315
- Heap I (2023) The International Herbicide-Resistant Weed Database. www.weedscience.org. Accessed: August 15, 2023
- Higher Education Authority, Zambia (2023) Higher Education Institutions. <https://hea.org.zm/heis-2/>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Higher Education Commission Pakistan (2023) Universities. <https://hec.gov.pk/english/universities/pages/recognised.aspx#k=>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Higher Education and Training, Republic of South Africa (2023) University Education Branch. <https://www.dhet.gov.za/SitePages/UniversityEducation.aspx>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Jabran K, Chauhan B (2018) *Non-chemical Weed Control*. New York: Academic Press. 172 p
- Jabran K, Florentine S, Chauhan BS, eds (2020) *Crop Protection Under Changing Climate*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer. 393 p
- Japan Education Info (2023) List of Japanese Universities. <https://www.japaneducation.info/higher-education/list-of-japanese-universities-and-colleges-from-a-to-j.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Jones RE, Vere DT, Alemseged Y, Medd RW (2005) Estimating the economic cost of weeds in Australian annual winter crops. *Agric Econ* 32:253–265
- Jordan N, Schut M, Graham S, Barney JN, Childs DZ, Christensen S, Cousens RD, Davis AS, Eizenberg H, Ervin DE, Fernandez-Quintanilla C (2016) Transdisciplinary weed research: new leverage on challenging weed problems? *Weed Res* 56:345–358
- Kubiak A, Wolna-Maruwka A, Niewiadomska A, Pilarska AA (2022) The problem of weed infestation of agricultural plantations vs. the assumptions of the European biodiversity strategy. *Agronomy* 12:1808
- Llewellyn RS, Ronning D, Ouzman J, Walker S, Mayfield A, Clarke M (2016) *Impact of Weeds on Australian Grain Production: The Cost of Weeds to Australian Grain Growers and the Adoption of Weed Management and Tillage Practices*. Report for Grains Research and Development Corporation. Kingston, ACT, Australia: Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation. 112 p
- Machado-Neto JG (2015) Safety measures for handlers/workers against herbicide intoxication risk. Pages 299–322 in Price A, Kelton J, Sarunaite L, eds. *Herbicides, Physiology of Action, and Safety*. London: IntechOpen
- MacLaren C, Storkey J, Menegat A, Metcalfe H, Dehnen-Schmutz K (2020) An ecological future for weed science to sustain crop production and the environment. A review. *Agron Sustain Dev* 40:1–29
- Matloob A, Safdar ME, Abbas T, Aslam F, Khaliq A, Tanveer A, Rehman A, Chadhar AR (2020) Challenges and prospects for weed management in Pakistan: a review. *Crop Prot* 134:104724

- Ministério da Educação (2023) Brazil: Higher Education. <https://education.sta.teuniversity.com/pages/200/Brazil-HIGHER-EDUCATION.html#:~:text=There%20are%20127%20universities%20in,higher%20education%2C%2022%20are%20public>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministerio de Educación (2023) Home page. <https://www.gob.pe/minedu>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministerul Educației (2023) Romania. <https://www.edu.ro/institutii-invatamant-superior>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- [MINEDUC] Ministerio of Educación of Chile (2023) Home page. <https://www.mineduc.cl>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Aliyah and Integration (2023) Higher Education in Israel. https://www.gov.il/en/departments/guides/institutions_and_student_programs?chapterIndex=2. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education of Bolivia (2023) Home page. <https://www.minedu.gob.bo>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education and Culture, Finland (2023) Home page. <https://okm.fi/en/ministry>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education and Religious Affairs, Greece (2023) Home page. <https://www.gov.gr/en/upourgeia/upourgeio-paideias-kai-threskeumaton>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education and Research, Denmark (2023) Home page. <https://ufm.dk>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education Cameroon (2023) Universities. <https://minesup.gov.cm/#>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education and Sports Uganda (2023) Recognised Tertiary Institutions. <https://www.education.go.ug/wp-content/uploads/2019/08/List-of-Recognized-Universities-Other-Tertiary-Institutions-2016.pdf>. Accessed: August 14, 2023.
- Ministry of Education Science and Technology, Tanzania (2023) Basic Education Data 2023. https://www.tamisemi.go.tz/singleministers/basic_education_data_2023. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Ecuador (2023) Home page. <http://educacion.gob.ec>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, France (2023) Studies and Statistics. https://www.education-gouv.fr.translate.google.etudes-et-statistiques-1145?_x_tr_sl=fr&_x_tr_tl=en&_x_tr_hl=en&_x_tr_pto=sc. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Madagascar (2023) Lycée. <https://www.education.gov.mg/systeme-educatif/lycee>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, New Zealand (2023) Home page. <https://www.education.govt.nz>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, North Korea (2023) Higher Education. <http://english.moe.go.kr/sub/infoRenewal.do?m=0305&page=0305&s=english>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, The People's Republic of China (2023) Home page. <http://en.moe.gov.cn>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Republic of Malawi (2023) Directorate of Higher Education (DHE) <http://www.education.gov.mw/index.php/edu-directory/higher-education>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Rwanda (2023) Higher Learning Institutions. <https://www.mineduc.gov.rw/higher-learning-institutions>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Saudi Arabia (2023) Public Universities. <https://moe.gov.sa/en/education/highereducation/Pages/UniversitiesList.aspx>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Science, Research and Sport of the Slovak Republic (2023) About the Ministry. <https://www.minedu.sk/about-the-ministry>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education of Turkmenistan (2023) <https://education.gov.tm/en/youm>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, United Arab Emirates (2023) List of licensed institutions in UAE. <https://www.moe.gov.ae/En/MediaCenter/News/Pages/licenseInstitutions.aspx>. Accessed: September 23, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport, Cambodia (2023) Higher Education. <https://moeys.gov.kh/#>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports, Czech Republic (2020) Strategic Plan of the Ministry for Higher Education for the Period from 2021. https://www.msmt.cz/uploads/odbor_30/DH/SZ/strategic_plan_2021_.pdf. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education, Afghanistan (2019) Government Educational Institutions. <https://mohe.gov.af/en/government-educational-institutions>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education, Research Innovation, Oman (2023) Government Higher Education Institutions. <https://www.moheri.gov.om/InnerPage.aspx?ID=4438f693-dac7-4ad5-9c06-5ab179810b88>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- [MOHE] Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Jordan (2023) Home page. https://mohe.gov.jo/EN/List/Universities__and_Institutes. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- [MOHESR] Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Iraq (2023) Higher Education Institutions. <https://moheer.gov.iq/en-us/Pages/home.aspx>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education, Science and Innovations of the Republic of Uzbekistan (2023) Oliy ta'lim muassasalari ro'yxati. <https://stat.edu.uz/Univer-list.php>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education, Science, Technology and Innovation of Angola (2023) Angolan Higher Education-related Organizations. <https://www.4icu.org/institutions/ao>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research (2023) Libya. <https://csc.gov.ly/en/portfolio/ministry-of-higher-education-and-scientific-research/>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Syria (2023) Higher Education System Guide. http://www.mohe.gov.sy/SD08/msf/1416123985_part3.pdf. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Higher Education and Scientific Research, Yemen 2023 <https://moheer.webrouk.com/#>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Natural Resources, Hungary (2023) Home page. <http://www.nefmi.gov.hu/felsooktatasi/felsooktatasi-intezmenyek>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Education, Ethiopia (2023) Universities. <https://moe.gov.et/universities>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Ministry of Science and Higher Education, Poland (2023) Subordinate Agencies and Related Institutions. <https://www.gov.pl/web/science/subordinate-agencies-and-related-institutions>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Ministry of Science Research and Technology, Iran (2023) List of universities. <https://www.msrt.ir/en/page/8/universities>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Ministry of Technical and Higher Education, Republic of Sierra Leone (2023) Homepage. <https://www.mthe.gov.sl/index.aspx#>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Morocco Academia (2023) Higher Education in Morocco. <https://www.moroccodemia.com/en/>. Accessed: September 15, 2023
- Moss S (2019) Integrated weed management (IWM): why are farmers reluctant to adopt non-chemical alternatives to herbicides? *Pest Manag Sci* 75: 1205–1211
- Myanmar Education Info (2023) List of Universities in Myanmar. <https://www.myanmareducation.info/universities>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- National Strategic Plan Taskforce, Independent State of Papua New Guinea (2023). Papua New Guinea Vision 2050. <https://www.education.gov.pg/quicklinks/documents/edu-plans/png-2050.pdf>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Nigeria Federal Ministry of Education (2023) University Education. <http://www.fmebasic.intellisys.xyz/index.php/universities>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- [NOKUT] Norwegian Agency for Quality Assurance in Education (2023) Higher Education Institutions. <https://www.nokut.no/en/higher-education/higher-education-institutions/>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Office of the Higher Education Commission, Bureau of International Cooperation Strategy, Ministry of Education, Thailand (2008) History. https://web.archive.org/web/20130811211447/http://www.inter.mua.go.th/main2/page_detail.php?id=3. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- Open Development Mekong (2023) Higher Education Institutes in Laos. <https://data.laos.opendevlopmentmekong.net/en/dataset/higher-education-institutions-in-laos/resource/1f48401c-6c01-4917-acc3-d428e36bb605>. Accessed: August 14, 2023

- [OPRKM-KMD] Office of Planning, Research and Knowledge Management– Knowledge Management Division Philippines (2023) CHED Research. <https://chedresearch.wordpress.com/about>. Accessed: August 6, 2023
- Orker EC (2006) Crop losses to pests. *J Agric Sci* 144:31–43
- Palestinian Ministry of Education & Higher Education (2023) Mid-Term Strategy for Higher Education Sector. <https://www.mohe.pna.ps/Resources/Docs/StrategyEn.pdf>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Peterson MA, Collavo A, Ovejero R, Shivrain V, Walsh MJ (2018) The challenge of herbicide resistance around the world: a current summary. *Pest Manag Sci* 74:2246–2259
- Pokorny R (1941) New compounds. Some chlorophenoxyacetic acids. *J Am Chem Soc* 63:1768–1768
- Radosevich SR, Holt JS, Ghera CM (1997) *Weed Ecology, Implications for Management*. New York: CABI Direct/Wiley. 589 p
- Riemens M, Sønderkov M, Moonen AC, Storkey J, Kudsk P (2022) An integrated weed management framework: a pan-European perspective. *Eur J Agron* 133:126443
- Rodenburg J, Demont M, Zwart SJ, Bastiaans L (2016) Parasitic weed incidence and related economic losses in rice in Africa. *Agric Ecosyst Environ* 235: 306–317
- Saunders JT, Greer G, Bourdôt G, Saunders C, James T, Rolando C, Monge J, Watt MS (2017) The economic costs of weeds on productive land in New Zealand. *Int J Agric Sustain* 15:380–392
- Shrestha A, Anwar MP, Islam AM, Gurung T, Dhakal S, Tanveer A, Javaid MM, Nadeem M, Ikram NA (2021) Weed science as a new discipline and its status in some South Asian universities and colleges: Examples from Bangladesh, Bhutan, Nepal and Pakistan. *CABI Rev.* <https://doi.org/10.1079/PAVSN.NR202116017>.
- Slaughter DC, Giles DK, Downey D (2008) Autonomous robotic weed control systems: A review. *Comput Electron Agric* 61:63–78
- Soltani N, Dille JA, Burke IC, Everman WJ, VanGessel MJ, Davis VM, Sikkema PH (2016) Potential corn yield losses from weeds in North America. *Weed Technol* 30:979–984
- Soltani N, Dille JA, Gulden RH, Sprague CL, Zollinger RK, Morishita DW, Lawrence NC, Sbatella GM, Kniss AR, Jha P, Sikkema PH (2018) Potential yield loss in dry bean crops due to weeds in the United States and Canada. *Weed Technol* 32:342–346
- Somasundaram J, Sinha NK, Dalal RC, Lal R, Mohanty M, Naorem AK, Hati KM, Chaudhary RS, Biswas AK, Patra AK, Chaudhari SK (2020) No-till farming and conservation agriculture in South Asia—issues, challenges, prospects and benefits. *CRC Crit Rev Plant Sci* 39:236–279
- Spain Education Information (2023) List of Universities in Spain. <https://www.spaineducation.info/universities>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Statista (2023a) Number of institutions of higher education in Mexico in the academic year 2020/21, by state. <https://www.statista.com/statistics/706127/higher-education-institutions-mexico-state/>. Accessed: August 16, 2023
- Statista (2023b) Higher Education in South Korea—Statistics & Facts. <https://www.statista.com/topics/4707/tertiary-education-in-south-korea>. Accessed: August 14, 2023.
- Statista (2023d) Number of Universities in Vietnam from 2016 to 2020. <https://www.statista.com/statistics/814940/number-of-universities-invietnam/#:~:text=In%202019%2C%20there%20were%20approximately,private%20universities%20in%20the%20country>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- Statista (2023c) Number of Higher Education Institutions in the United Kingdom from 2016/17 to 2020/21. <https://www.statista.com/statistics/915603/universities-in-the-united-kingdom-uk/Statista>. Accessed: August 16, 2023
- Stephenson GR, Solomon KR, Frank F, Hsiung T, Thompson DG (2001) *Pesticides in the Environment*. Section 3. Guelph, ON, Canada: University of Guelph. Pp 1–12
- Sterman J, Featherston E (2022) Growing concern: thousands of farms across U.S. damaged by “dicamba drift” that devastates crops. *WBTV*. <https://www.wbvtv.com/2022/08/01/growing-concern-thousands-farms-across-us-damaged-by-dicamba-drift-that-devastates-crops>. Accessed: August 15, 2023
- Suleymanov T (2020) Transformation of higher education in Azerbaijan: reforms, policies and current trends. *J Econ Sci Theory Pract* 77:40–60
- Sun Y, Kaleibar BP, Oveysi M, Müller-Schärer H (2021) Addressing climate change: What can plant invasion science and weed science learn from each other? *Front Agron* 2:626005
- Thill DC, Lish JM, Callihan RH, Bechinski EJ (1991) Integrated weed management—a component of integrated pest management: a critical review. *Weed Technol* 5:648–656
- Timmons FL (2005) A history of weed control in the United States and Canada. *Weed Sci* 53:748–761
- Torra J, Osuna MD, Merotto A, Vila-Aiub M (2021) Multiple herbicide-resistant weeds and non-target site resistance mechanisms: a global challenge for food production. *Front Plant Sci* 28:763212
- Tretyakova A, Grudanov N, Kondratkov P, Baranova O, Luneva N, Mysnik Y, Khasanova G, Yamalov S, Lebedeva M (2020) A database of weed plants in the European part of Russia. *Biodivers Data J* 8:e59176
- Tunisia Education (2023) Higher Education System of Tunisia. <https://www.tunisiaeducation.info/higher-education>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- Unipage (2023) Universities in Malaysia. https://www.unipage.net/en/universities_malaysia#:~:text=Universities%20are%20the%20largest%20group,20%20public%20universities%20in%20Malaysia. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- UniRank (2023) Universities by Country. <https://www.4icu.org/bf>. Accessed: July 12, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023a) Belgium Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Belgium/Belgium-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023b) German Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Germany/Germany-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023.
- University Directory Worldwide (2023c) Italy Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Italy/Italy-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023d) Mozambique Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Mozambique/Mozambique-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 9, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023e) Niger Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Niger/Niger-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023f) Somalia Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Somalia/Somalia-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023g) Sudan Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Sudan/Sudan-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023h) Universities Directory of Netherlands. <https://www.university-directory.eu/js/countrypages.php?view=countrypages&country=NL&colltype=1&p=4>.
- University Directory Worldwide (2023i) Universities Directory Russian Federation (Russia). [https://www.university-directory.eu/Russian-Federation-\(Russia\)/Russian-Federation-\(Russia\)-Universities.html](https://www.university-directory.eu/Russian-Federation-(Russia)/Russian-Federation-(Russia)-Universities.html) (accessed online 14 August 2023)
- University Directory Worldwide (2023j) University Directories of Democratic Republic of Congo (Zaire) <https://www.university-directory.eu/js/countrypages.php?view=countrypages&country=COD&p=1&jkko=xx1yrzg&page=2>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- University Directory Worldwide (2023k) Zimbabwe Universities Directory. <https://www.university-directory.eu/Zimbabwe/Zimbabwe-Universities.html>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- University Grants Commission of Bangladesh (2023) List of Public Universities. <http://www.ugc-universities.gov.bd>. Accessed: March 14, 2023)
- University Grants Commission, India (2023) Total No. of Universities in the Country as on 25.01.2023. <https://www.ugc.ac.in/oldpdf/Consolidated%20List%20of%20All%20Universities.pdf>. Accessed: March 14, 2023
- University Grants Commission, Nepal (2023) Universities in Nepal <https://www.ugcnepal.edu.np/frontpage/20>. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- University Grants Commission, Sri Lanka (2023) Universities and Higher Educational Institutions Established under the Purview of the

- University Grants Commission. https://www.ugc.ac.lk/index.php?option=com_university&view=campuses&Itemid=26&lang=en. Accessed: August 14, 2023
- [WSSA] Weed Science Society of America (2023a) WSSA Glossary. <https://wssa.net/wssa/wssa-glossary>. Accessed: August 9, 2023
- [WSSA] Weed Science Society of America (2023b) WSSA Mission statement. <https://wssa.net/wp-content/uploads/wssa-MOP-Nov-2020.pdf>. Accessed: August 9, 2023
- [WSSA] Weed Science Society of America (2023c) WSSA Statistics. <https://wssa.net/links/universities/>. Accessed: September 14, 2023
- Welch A, Aziz EA (2022) Higher Education in Indonesia. Pages 1–30 *in* Pe Symaco L, Hayden M, eds. International Handbook on Education in South East Asia. Singapore: Springer Nature
- Westwood JH, Charudattan R, Duke SO, Fennimore SA, Marrone P, Slaughter DC, Swanton C, Zollinger R (2018) Weed management in 2050: perspectives on the future of weed science. *Weed Sci* 66:275–285
- Zimdahl RL (2010) A History of Weed Science in the United States. New York: Elsevier, 220 p